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OPINION AND ORDER 

 

David Richard Schwarcz pleaded guilty in federal court to conspiring to supervise and 

operate an unlicensed money transmitting business, a felony that may or may not involve moral 

turpitude.  Schwarcz knew that the funds transferred were proceeds from illegal activities and he 

used his law firm’s trust account in the process.  The hearing judge found moral turpitude in the 

facts and circumstances surrounding the conviction and recommended disbarment.  Schwarcz 

committed this crime while his first disciplinary case was pending against him. 

Schwarcz seeks review.  He argues that the hearing judge relied on inadmissible evidence 

to find moral turpitude.  He also requests more mitigation, less aggravation, and an actual 

suspension with credit for time spent on interim suspension.  The Office of Chief Trial Counsel 

of the State Bar (OCTC) did not appeal but supports the disbarment recommendation. 

 Upon independent review (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 9.12), we find (1) the facts and 

circumstances surrounding the conviction involved moral turpitude; (2) Schwarcz’s mitigation is 

not compelling; and (3) disbarment is the proper discipline given his serious misconduct, the 

applicable disciplinary standards, the aggravating circumstances, and comparable case law. 
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I.  FACTUAL BACKGROUND 

A. Overview of Admissible Evidence that Establishes the Record for Review 

 Schwarcz’s central argument on review is that the hearing judge relied on inadmissible 

evidence.  OCTC did not call any witnesses at trial and instead presented documents from 

Schwarcz’s criminal case.  Included were items such as the written plea agreement, Schwarcz’s 

and the United States Attorney’s Office’s (USAO) sentencing memoranda, and transcripts from 

his plea and sentencing hearings.  Schwarcz argues that the hearing judge relied heavily on the 

USAO’s sentencing memorandum, which he contends is merely argument and contains multiple 

levels of inadmissible hearsay and unproven factual allegations.  OCTC counters that Schwarcz 

stipulated to admit these documents for all purposes.  We find the record does not establish the 

broad stipulation for admission that OCTC asserts.1   

 Some documents from the criminal case are clearly admissible in disciplinary matters, 

such as guilty pleas and plea agreements.  (See Bus. & Prof. Code, § 6101, subd. (a) [conviction 

is conclusive evidence of guilt]; Chadwick v. State Bar (1989) 49 Cal.3d 103, 110 [criminal 

conviction, including guilty plea, is conclusive proof attorney committed all acts necessary to 

constitute offense].)  Accordingly, we rely only on Schwarcz’s signed plea agreement and 

transcript excerpts from his plea and sentencing hearings that address his guilty plea, along with 

his testimony from the discipline trial.2   

 
1 The parties filed a July 12, 2019 pretrial Stipulation as to Facts and Admission of 

Documents (Stipulation), but reserved the right to argue the weight that should be given to each 

exhibit.  At the disciplinary trial, the parties agreed to the authenticity of documents OCTC had 

obtained from the Public Access of Court Electronic Records service, but did not agree that the 

documents would be admitted for all purposes.  Schwarcz also objected to admission of certain 

documents in his closing trial brief.  Admissibility of the documents for all purposes was not 

established at trial.   

2 We need not determine whether hearsay statements contained in any other documents 

are admissible because we do not rely on them.  (Rules Proc. of State Bar, rule 5.104 (D) 
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B. The Plea Agreement 

In December 2015, Schwarcz was arrested and indicted in the United States District 

Court for the Southern District of New York for participation in a money laundering conspiracy.  

A superseding indictment was filed in March 2016.  On November 28, 2016, a second 

superseding indictment was filed, charging Schwarcz with money laundering in violation of title 

18 United States Code (U.S.C.) section 1956 (counts one and two), and an illegal money 

transmitting conspiracy in violation of title 18 U.S.C. sections 371 and 1960 (count three).  

On January 13, 2017, Schwarcz signed a six-page plea agreement with the USAO, 

agreeing to plead guilty to count three.3  (United States v. David Schwartz a/k/a “David 

Schwarcz,” No. 1:15-cr-00835.)  Count three alleges in relevant part: 

• From 2009 through 2011, Schwarcz, Robert Rimberg, and others, known and 

unknown, “unlawfully, willfully and knowingly, combined, conspired, 

confederated, and agreed together and with each other” to violate title 

18 U.S.C. section 1960; 

 

• As a part and an object of the conspiracy, Schwarcz and coconspirators 

“willfully and knowingly would and did conduct, control, manage, supervise, 

direct, and own all and part of an unlicensed money transmitting business 

affecting interstate and foreign commerce,” in violation of title 18 U.S.C. 

section 1960; and 

 

• Two overt acts were listed—that in or about December 2010 and in 

furtherance of the conspiracy, in violation of title 18 U.S.C. section 371 

(1) Rimberg and an unnamed coconspirator accepted approximately $1 

million in United States currency, and (2) Schwarcz sent and assisted in 

sending wires transferring the approximately $1 million to different bank 

accounts. 

 

[hearsay evidence may supplement or explain other evidence, but over timely objection will not 

support finding unless it would be admissible over objection in civil actions].) 

3 Title 18 U.S.C. section 371 provides that it is a crime for two or more persons to 

conspire to commit any offense against the United States.  It requires that at least one of these 

persons do an act to affect the object of the conspiracy.  Title 18 U.S.C. section 1960 provides 

that it is a crime to knowingly conduct, control, manage, supervise, direct, or own all or part of 

an unlicensed money transmitting business. 
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Schwarcz also stipulated in the plea agreement to a two-level enhancement under the United 

States Sentencing Guidelines because he “knew or believed that the funds were proceeds of 

unlawful activity.”  (Emphasis added.)4 

C. The Plea Hearing  

 

The plea hearing was held on January 13, 2017, the same day Schwarcz signed his plea 

agreement.  The federal district court judge marked a copy of the agreement as an exhibit.  The 

judge asked a series of questions to confirm that Schwarcz intended to plead guilty, that he was 

in fact guilty, that he understood the consequences of his plea, including that he was giving up 

certain constitutional rights, that his plea was knowing and voluntary, and that there was an 

independent basis for his plea.  Under oath, Schwarcz answered these questions in the 

affirmative.  He also acknowledged that he had been provided sufficient time to discuss the case 

with his lawyer and was satisfied with his legal representation.   

The judge discussed the substance of count three of the second superseding indictment, 

including the overt acts.  He stated that those acts were alleged to be in furtherance of the 

conspiracy as follows: (a) in or around December 2010, Schwarcz’s coconspirators accepted 

approximately $1 million, and (b) Schwarcz sent and assisted in sending wire transfers of 

approximately $1 million.  The judge then inquired of Schwarcz, “Do you understand that is 

what you were charged with in Count Three of the indictment?”  Schwarcz answered “Yes.”   

Before the judge took the plea, he asked Schwarcz to describe his participation in the 

charged crime.  Schwarcz stated: 

In late 2010 and early 2011, I agreed with others to transfer funds as part of a 

money transfer business and I understood that the transfers would be in exchange 

for a fee.  The money transfer business that I agreed to conduct and did conduct 

was not licensed under state or federal law.  As part of this agreement, which I 

 
4 The plea agreement reserved Schwarcz’s right to challenge the applicability of this 

enhancement, but he did not do so.  We reject his argument that he did not agree to the 

enhancement because he reserved the right to challenge it.  The agreement does not support this.   
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knew to be unlawful at the time, I transferred approximately $2,334,000 [sic]5 in 

December 2010. 

 

To establish venue, the USAO affirmed that “there were acts by [Schwarcz’s] 

coconspirators that occurred in the Southern District of New York,” including “a drop-off of a 

million dollars in cash that occurred in Manhattan,” and “wires that were initiated in Manhattan.”  

After the judge inquired, Schwarcz’s attorney added that the acts were in furtherance of the 

conspiracy and involved coconspirators.  The judge asked Schwarcz, “[A]re you prepared to 

accept that for purposes of your plea?”  Schwarcz answered “Yes.”  Further, Schwarcz 

acknowledged that if a coconspirator commits an overt act in furtherance of the conspiracy in the 

venue alleged, any member can be prosecuted for that offense in that venue.  At the conclusion 

of the hearing, the judge found Schwarcz had knowingly and voluntarily waived his 

constitutional right to trial and other associated rights.  The judge accepted Schwarcz’s guilty 

plea to count three and adjudged him guilty.  A sentencing hearing was set.    

D. The Sentencing Hearing  

Schwarcz appeared for sentencing on January 25, 2018.  He expressed his remorse and 

discussed his personal and family issues.  He assured the judge that those circumstances did not 

excuse his criminal conduct.  The judge found that the offense was serious and the facts to which 

Schwarcz pleaded showed that the money transmitting business was a means to transform the 

proceeds of illicit activity to apparently legal resources, which furthered the illicit activity.  The 

judge sentenced Schwarcz to imprisonment in a federal prison for a term of 366 days and, upon 

his release, to a supervised release for one year with standard conditions.  A $6,000 fine and 

$100 special assessment were imposed.  The USAO dismissed the two remaining counts in the 

second superseding indictment.   

 
5 This amount was a typographical error in the plea transcript; the actual amount 

Schwarcz agreed as part of his plea that he personally transferred was approximately $234,000.   
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II.  STATE BAR COURT PROCEEDINGS 

On April 5, 2017, OCTC transmitted evidence of Schwarcz’s conviction to the Review 

Department.  On April 26, we placed Schwarcz on interim suspension from the practice of law 

effective May 22, pending final disposition of this proceeding.  (Bus. & Prof. Code §§ 6101, 

6102;6 Cal. Rules of Court, rule 9.10; Rules Proc. of State Bar, rules 5.341 & 5.342.)  On 

March 9, 2018, Schwarcz waived finality of the conviction.  On March 22, we referred the matter 

to the Hearing Department to determine whether the facts and circumstances surrounding the 

conviction involved moral turpitude or other misconduct warranting discipline.  (Bus. & Prof. 

Code, § 6102, subd. (e); Rules Proc. of State Bar, rule 5.344.) 

On July 12, 2019, the parties filed the Stipulation.  Trial was held on September 5 and 6.  

Posttrial briefs were filed.  The hearing judge issued his decision on December 2, 2019.   

III.  FACTS AND CIRCUMSTANCES SURROUNDING 

SCHWARCZ’S CONVICTION INVOLVED MORAL TURPITUDE 

 

In attorney disciplinary proceedings, “the record of [an attorney’s] conviction [is] 

conclusive evidence of guilt of the crime of which he or she has been convicted.”  (Bus. & Prof. 

Code, § 6101, subd. (a); In re Gross (1983) 33 Cal.3d 561, 567.)  Since Schwarcz’s conviction 

does not establish moral turpitude per se, any finding of moral turpitude must be made after 

considering the facts and circumstances of the conviction.  (Bus. & Prof. Code, § 6102, 

subd. (e).)  We are not restricted to examining elements of the crimes but must look at the whole 

course of misconduct.  (In the Matter of Oheb (Review Dept. 2006) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 

920, 935.)    

The facts and circumstances surrounding Schwarcz’s conviction, as a coconspirator, 

involved moral turpitude because they clearly fit within the definition of moral turpitude as set 

 
6 All further references to sections are to the Business and Professions Code unless 

otherwise noted.  
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forth by the California Supreme Court: “Criminal conduct not committed in the practice of law or 

against a client reveals moral turpitude if it shows a deficiency in any character trait necessary for 

the practice of law (such as trustworthiness, honesty, fairness, candor, and fidelity to fiduciary 

duties) or if it involves such a serious breach of a duty owed to another or to society, or such a 

flagrant disrespect for the law or for societal norms, that knowledge of the attorney’s conduct 

would be likely to undermine public confidence in and respect for the legal profession.”  (In re 

Lesansky (2001) 25 Cal.4th 11, 16.)  Schwarcz has shown deficiencies in his character, including a 

lack of trustworthiness, honesty, and fidelity to his fiduciary duties.   

Schwarcz argues no admissible evidence proves moral turpitude.  He asserts that the 

factual basis for his guilty plea is limited, as it is “predicated on his agreement to make one 

transfer of funds, his lack of an appropriate license, and knowledge that the conduct was 

unlawful.”  He contends that he knew the unlicensed transfer was illegal, but he did not know the 

transferred funds were proceeds from unlawful activity.  He submits that his conduct did not 

amount to moral turpitude.   

We reject Schwarcz’s request to limit his wrongdoing to his illegal transfer of $234,000.  

His plea agreement establishes the contrary.  First, he stipulated that he conspired to operate an 

illegal money transmitting business.  Second, as overt acts in furtherance of the conspiracy, he 

stipulated that he sent and assisted in sending wire transfers of approximately $1 million.  Third, 

he stipulated to the sentencing enhancement that stated he knew or believed that the transfers were 

proceeds of unlawful activity.   

At the hearings in federal court, Schwarcz confirmed his participation in the crime.  He 

stated at his plea hearing that he had (1) conspired with others to make “transfers” of money, in 

the plural, (2) expected to receive a fee for the transfers, and (3) personally transferred $234,000 

illegally.  In determining the sentence, the judge noted that Schwarcz’s misconduct was serious 
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and he had pleaded to facts that showed the money transmitting business was a means to transform 

the proceeds of illicit activity to apparently legal resources.   

Schwarcz’s actions surrounding his conviction were dishonest and demonstrate such a 

flagrant disrespect for the law that knowledge of his misconduct would likely undermine public 

confidence in and respect for the legal profession.  (In re Lesansky, supra, 25 Cal.4th at p. 16.)  He 

also abused his position of trust and dishonored his fiduciary duties by using his law firm’s trust 

account to facilitate the transfer of illegal funds—something a non-attorney could not do.  (Cf. In 

the Matter of Kreitenberg (Review Dept. 2002) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 469, 474 [moral 

turpitude found where attorney used trust account to avoid paying income taxes due on legal 

fees].)  The totality of his misconduct is clearly contrary to honesty and good principles and 

involves moral turpitude.  (Stanford v. State Bar (1940) 15 Cal.2d 721, 727–728 [“act of an 

attorney which is contrary to honesty and good morals is conduct involving moral turpitude”].)7 

IV.  AGGRAVATION AND MITIGATION 

Standard 1.5 of the Standards for Attorney Sanctions for Professional Misconduct8 requires 

OCTC to establish aggravating circumstances by clear and convincing evidence.9  Standard 1.6 

requires Schwarcz to meet the same burden to prove mitigation. 

 

 

 
7 We do not go as far as the hearing judge to find that Schwarcz knew the illegal proceeds 

were specifically from narcotics trafficking, i.e., cocaine, or that he engaged in money 

laundering.  That Schwarcz conspired to illegally transfer $1 million gained from any unlawful 

activity is dishonest conduct that involves moral turpitude. 

8 All further references to standards are to the Rules of Procedure of the State Bar, 

title IV, Standards for Attorney Sanctions for Professional Misconduct. 

9 Clear and convincing evidence leaves no substantial doubt and is sufficiently strong to 

command the unhesitating assent of every reasonable mind.  (Conservatorship of Wendland 

(2001) 26 Cal.4th 519, 552.) 
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A. Aggravation 

1.  Prior Record of Discipline (Std. 1.5(a)) 

Standard 1.5(a) provides that a prior record of discipline may be an aggravating factor.  

The hearing judge found that Schwarcz’s prior discipline was aggravating but did not assign a 

specific weight.  We assign substantial weight. 

In 1999, Schwarcz committed misconduct in one client matter.  Disciplinary charges were 

filed on July 19, 2006.10  Years later, in December 2013, Schwarcz stipulated to violating former 

rule 3-300 of the California Rules of Professional Conduct by improperly entering into business 

transactions with a client.11  He failed to fully disclose the terms and conditions of the transactions 

and did not notify his client of her right to seek independent legal advice.  The stipulation cited 

significant client harm and multiple acts of wrongdoing as aggravating, and good character, 

cooperation for entering into a pretrial stipulation, no prior record of discipline, and consideration 

for the passage of time since the misconduct, as mitigating.  On April 11, 2014, the Supreme Court 

imposed the stipulated discipline, which included a 60-day actual suspension.  (S216108 (State 

Bar Court No. 04-O-14445).)   

Schwarcz argues that the hearing judge failed to credit all the mitigating circumstances in 

the prior discipline.  We disagree.  The judge correctly listed each mitigating circumstance recited 

in the stipulation.  But we agree with his argument that the mitigation counterbalances the 

aggravation of the prior record, and that the past misconduct is not the same type of misconduct as 

in the present case.   

 
10 We take judicial notice of this date.  (Rules Proc. of State Bar, rule 5.156(B); Evid. 

Code § 452.) 

11 All further references to rules are to the former California Rules of Professional 

Conduct that were in effect until November 1, 2018, unless otherwise noted. 
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Even so, the timing of Schwarcz’s prior discipline case as it relates to his present 

misconduct outweighs these considerations.  He was on notice since 2006 that his first case had 

been filed and he was facing discipline.  As a result, he should have been on high alert regarding 

his ethical responsibilities.  Yet he proceeded to commit serious criminal acts in 2010—four years 

after his discipline case was filed and three years before he resolved it by stipulation.  Schwarcz 

clearly failed to appreciate his professional ethical obligations.  We assign substantial aggravation 

for his prior record of discipline.   

2.  Indifference (Std. 1.5(k)) 

The hearing judge found that Schwarcz’s misconduct was aggravated by denying the full 

extent of his involvement in the conspiracy.  (Std. 1.5(k) [indifference toward rectification or 

atonement for consequences of misconduct is aggravating factor].)  The judge assigned significant 

aggravation because Schwarcz’s failure to recognize his wrongdoing suggests possible recidivism.  

(In the Matter of Layton (Review Dept. 1993) 2 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 366, 380 [lack of insight 

into misconduct causes concern that attorney will repeat misdeeds and is substantial factor in 

discipline recommendation].)  We agree and assign substantial weight.  Schwarcz repeatedly 

testified at the discipline trial that he did not know the funds he transferred were from unlawful 

activities, yet his plea agreement and the plea and sentencing hearings prove otherwise.  Though 

the law does not require false penitence, it does mandate that an attorney accept responsibility for 

his or her misconduct and come to grips with his or her culpability.  (In the Matter of Katz 

(Review Dept. 1991) 1 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 502, 511.)  Schwarcz has not done this.12   

B. Mitigation 

1.  No Mitigation for Extreme Emotional Difficulties or Mental Disabilities 

(Std. 1.6(d)) 

 
12 The hearing judge found Schwarcz lacked candor at trial for his denial, but properly 

did not assign aggravation under standard 1.5(l) because he relied on these facts to assign 

aggravation for indifference under standard 1.5(k).   
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Standard 1.6(d) provides that mitigation may be assigned for extreme emotional 

difficulties or physical or mental disabilities if (1) the attorney suffered from them at the time of 

the misconduct; (2) they are established by expert testimony as being directly responsible for the 

misconduct; and (3) they no longer pose a risk that the attorney will commit future misconduct. 

The hearing judge assigned “slight mitigating credit.”  Schwarcz argues he is entitled to greater 

credit because he had “diminished capacity” at the time of his misconduct and was “unable to 

appreciate conduct that should have alerted him to make further inquiry before agreeing to transfer 

the funds.”  We assign no mitigation credit because Schwarcz did not prove the requirements of 

the standard. 

Schwarcz presented Lyndsay Elliott, Psy.D., a clinical and forensic psychologist.  

Dr. Elliott was hired to conduct a sentencing evaluation.  She interviewed Schwarcz in 2017 for 

four hours, prepared a 23-page report for his sentencing hearing, and testified at the disciplinary 

trial.  Dr. Elliott testified that Schwarcz had suffered various profound traumas throughout his life, 

beginning in childhood.  She opined that he suffered from, among other things, untreated 

psychological trauma comprised of post-traumatic stress disorder, chronic complex post-traumatic 

stress, battered child syndrome, abuse, and mood disorder consisting of depression and cognitive 

impairment.  Her report, admitted into evidence at trial, states that his untreated trauma has led to 

diminished cognitive and emotional functioning that affected his capacity to use sound judgment, 

made him susceptible to others, and rendered him unable to foresee the likely consequences of his 

actions.  Dr. Elliott also opined that Schwarcz suffered from extreme emotional difficulties as 

opposed to a mental disability but did not treat him for these problems and could not state whether 

he suffered from them at the time of the misconduct.  We find that neither Dr. Elliott’s testimony 

nor her report demonstrates Schwarcz suffered from extreme emotional difficulties or mental 

disabilities at the time of his misconduct in 2009 or 2010. 
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Next, Schwarcz did not establish that the emotional difficulties Dr. Elliott described were 

directly responsible for his criminal misconduct.  While the doctor found some connection, or that 

the difficulties were a “contributing factor,” she could not confirm a “direct” connection.  Dr. 

Elliott also explained that she knew little about Schwarcz’s criminal actions as she does not 

question her clients about the offense when preparing sentencing reports.   

Finally, Schwarcz did not establish that his emotional difficulties no longer pose a risk of 

future misconduct.  We acknowledge his credible testimony about his participation in the Lawyers 

Assistance Program since December 2016, his therapy sessions, and his report of greater self-

awareness.  He urges us to consider the statement made by Richard A. Gottfried, J.D., M.B.A., 

M.A., his current therapist.  Dr. Elliott interviewed Mr. Gottfried for her evaluation and included 

in her report that he had affirmed Schwarcz is dedicated to his recovery and “has been fully 

involved in the psychotherapy process.”  But when pointedly asked whether Schwarcz still posed a 

risk of future misconduct, Dr. Elliott could not offer an opinion. 

We agree with the hearing judge that Dr. Elliott’s role in this proceeding is limited.  She 

was hired to prepare a sentencing evaluation for federal court and therefore focused on the impact 

a prison sentence would have on Schwarcz’s family and business responsibilities.  Dr. Elliott met 

with Schwarz only one time in 2017, was not his treating psychologist, and had little information 

about the facts and circumstances of his conviction.  The overall evidence does not establish 

mitigation under standard 1.6(d) by clear and convincing evidence. 

2.  Cooperation with State Bar (Std. 1.6(e)) 

The hearing judge did not address standard 1.6(e), which affords mitigation for 

spontaneous candor and cooperation displayed to the State Bar.  Schwarcz waived finality of his 

conviction.  He also entered into a pretrial Stipulation that contained a limited set of mostly 

procedural facts and authorized admission of documents, reserving the right to argue the weight to 
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be assigned to them.  These actions were not spontaneous, nor did they save significant judicial 

time or resources.  Noting also that Schwarcz did not admit to culpability—that the facts and 

circumstances surrounding his conviction involved moral turpitude—we assign limited mitigating 

weight for his cooperation.  (In the Matter of Johnson (Review Dept. 2000) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. 

Rptr. 179, 190 [“more extensive weight in mitigation is accorded those who, where appropriate, 

willingly admit their culpability as well as the facts”].) 

3.  No Mitigation for Extraordinary Good Character (Std. 1.6(f)) 

Schwarcz is entitled to mitigation if he establishes “extraordinary good character attested 

to by a wide range of references in the legal and general communities, who are aware of the full 

extent of the misconduct.”  (Std. 1.6(f).)  Five witnesses testified at trial, three of whom also 

submitted copies of their character letters prepared in 2017 for the federal court sentencing.  

Schwarcz provided copies of another three federal court character letters: from his sister, his 

attorney in the present proceeding, and a friend who is also a business associate.  The witnesses 

who testified included Schwarcz’s accountant Judy Cox, friend and business partner Steve Mark 

Gold (writer and animation producer), attorneys and friends Benjamin Gluck and Lionel Glancy, 

and Rabbi David Sochet.13  The witnesses have known Schwarcz for various periods of time, some 

for decades.  They uniformly testified that he was empathetic, honest, client-oriented, and zealous 

about integrity, but that he had made a serious “mistake” by committing a crime.   

The hearing judge assigned no mitigation credit for extraordinary good character because 

he found that, at best, one or possibly two of the witnesses were aware of the full extent of 

Schwarcz’s misconduct.  We agree.  While each witness knew generally about the criminal 

conviction, most did not know Schwarcz had stipulated in his plea agreement that the money 

transferred was from illegal activity.  Though we give serious consideration to character evidence 

 
13 Ms. Cox, Mr. Gold, and Mr. Glancy submitted copies of their sentencing letters.   
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from attorneys (In the Matter of Brown (Review Dept. 1993) 2 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 309, 319), 

they must be informed about the full extent of the misconduct to receive such consideration. 

We reject Schwarcz’s argument that good character witnesses need only have a “basic 

understanding” of the misconduct—the standard requires an awareness of the full extent of the 

misconduct.  Here, each witness lacked critical information, most importantly that Schwarcz’s 

conspiracy to transfer the money involved funds obtained illegally.  Accordingly, we do not find 

that the witnesses established his extraordinary good character under standard 1.6(f).   

4.  No Mitigation for Remorse and Recognition of Wrongdoing (Std. 1.6(g)) 

Standard 1.6(g) provides mitigation for “prompt objective steps, demonstrating 

spontaneous remorse and recognition of the wrongdoing and timely atonement.”  The hearing 

judge assigned no mitigation credit.  We agree. 

Schwarcz argues that he is entitled to mitigation for remorse because he entered a plea to 

the crime, recognized his wrongdoing, and participated in treatment.  At his federal court hearings 

in 2017 and 2018, and his disciplinary trial in 2019, he stated he was remorseful.  But his 

statements of contrition were made years after he committed the crime and at a time when he 

faced serious consequences with federal authorities and the State Bar.  The Supreme Court has 

stated that expressing remorse is “an elementary moral precept which, standing alone, deserves no 

special consideration in determining the appropriate discipline.”  (Hipolito v. State Bar (1989) 

48 Cal.3d 621, 627, fn. 2.)   

4.  Pro Bono Work and Community Service 

Pro bono work and community service are mitigating circumstances.  (Calvert v. State Bar 

(1991) 54 Cal.3d 765, 785.)  Schwarcz argues that he should receive mitigation for “his long-term 

involvement with his pro bono and community work.”  But in his briefs on review, he did not 

specify the details of his work or explain why they entitle him to mitigation.   
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In our independent review of the record, however, we find evidence of Schwarcz’s pro 

bono and volunteer work.  Rabbi Sochet, a character witness, testified that Schwarcz was involved 

in the synagogue, including leading a class as director of adult studies for about six months; 

Schwarcz confirmed this in his testimony.  Dr. Elliott’s report contains a summary of the 

community service activities that Schwarcz reported to her, including serving as president of a 

synagogue (1996-2006), volunteering at a food bank (2006-2013) and for the Jewish Burial 

Society (no dates), serving on the board for a non-profit (2015-present), and providing pro bono 

assistance to low-income clients, including marital dissolution cases (no dates).     

Though the quantity and quality of these services are commendable, the evidence lacks 

specificity, was primarily uncorroborated, and did not reflect recent activity other than his service 

at the non-profit.  We therefore assign moderate, but not full, mitigation credit.  (Rose v. State Bar 

(1989) 49 Cal.3d 646, 667 [mitigation for legal abilities, dedication, and zeal in pro bono work]; 

see In the Matter of Shalant (Review Dept. 2005) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 829, 840 [limited 

weight given for community service where evidence based solely on attorney’s testimony making 

extent of service unclear].) 

V.  DISBARMENT IS THE NECESSARY DISCIPLINE 

Our role is not to punish Schwarcz for his crime—the federal court has done so by 

sentencing him in the criminal proceeding.  Instead, our purpose is to recommend appropriate 

professional discipline, considering the goals of the discipline system.  (In re Brown (1995) 

12 Cal.4th 205, 217 [“the aim of attorney discipline is not punishment or retribution; rather, 

attorney discipline is imposed to protect the public, to promote confidence in the legal system, and 

to maintain high professional standards”].)  Our discipline standards guide us whenever possible, 

and we balance all relevant factors, including mitigating and aggravating circumstances, on a case-

by-case basis, to ensure that the discipline imposed is consistent with the purposes of discipline.  



-16- 

(In re Young (1989) 49 Cal.3d 257, 266–267 & fn. 11.)  The hearing judge recommended 

disbarment.  Schwarcz urges an actual suspension with credit for the more than three years he has 

been on interim suspension since May 22, 2017.   

Given our finding of moral turpitude in the facts and circumstances, we apply the version 

of standard 2.15(b) in effect at the time of the disciplinary trial.  It calls for disbarment as the 

presumed sanction for a felony conviction in which the surrounding facts and circumstances 

involve moral turpitude, unless the most compelling mitigating circumstances clearly 

predominate.14  Schwarcz established mitigation only for cooperation (limited) and pro bono work 

and community service (moderate).  The total weight of these factors is not compelling.15  Nor 

does the mitigation clearly predominate over Schwarcz’s serious criminal misconduct and the 

aggravating factors of a prior record of discipline and his indifference, to which we assigned 

substantial weight.  Under these circumstances, the presumed sanction is disbarment.    

In addition to the standards, we look to comparable case law.  (Snyder v. State Bar (1990) 

49 Cal.3d 1302, 1310–1311.)  Like the hearing judge, we find guidance in In re Berman (1989) 

48 Cal.3d 517.  Berman pleaded guilty to a violation of title 18 U.S.C. section 371 (conspiracy) to 

illegally transport monetary instruments.  The facts surrounding the conviction showed that 

 
14 The standards were revised in 2019.  Current standard 2.15(a) provides that summary 

disbarment is the sanction when a hearing judge finds that the facts and circumstances 

surrounding a felony conviction involve moral turpitude.  The standard mirrors the new mandate 

of Business and Professions Code section 6102, subdivision (c)(2), which became effective on 

January 1, 2019.  Section 6102 is not retroactive and therefore applies only where the crime 

underlying the conviction occurred after the statute’s effective date.  Schwarcz’s crime occurred 

before January 1, 2019, so the current standard does not apply.  (In the Matter of Jebbia (Review 

Dept. 1999) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 51, 54 [summary disbarment statute not applied 

retroactively].)   

15 Cf. In the Matter of Field (Review Dept. 2010) 5 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 171, 185 

(compelling mitigation in non-conviction case where attorney provided extraordinary 

demonstration of good character, consisting of 36 character witnesses, including judges, 

attorneys, public officials, law enforcement personnel, community leaders, and friends, and an 

impressive record of participation in pro bono and community service activities). 
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Berman used his legal skills to propose a plan to launder money he believed were the proceeds of 

illegal drug sales.  He also intended to give false information to banks to obtain loans and lines of 

credit for his company.  The Supreme Court held that Berman’s fraudulent intent constituted 

moral turpitude and found that he did not uphold the high ethical standards of honesty and 

integrity required of attorneys.  He was disbarred.  Like Berman, Schwarcz participated in a 

conspiracy involving proceeds that he believed were garnered from illegal activity, though we do 

not make a finding of the specific illegal activity.  And, like Berman, Schwarcz used his position 

as an attorney to transfer a large amount of money through his firm’s trust account. 

Schwarcz argues that Berman is inapplicable due to the different type of evidence 

presented in that case.  He asserts that the moral turpitude finding in Berman was supported by 

direct evidence, including the testimony of a federal agent.  Schwarcz characterizes the evidence 

in his case as uncorroborated and inadmissible hearsay.  As noted, his argument on review is 

meritless as we rely on clearly admissible evidence consisting of Schwarcz’s plea agreement, the 

transcript in federal court related to his plea, and his testimony at the disciplinary trial.  

Schwarcz also argues that his discipline should be based only on his conviction for 

conspiring to conduct an illegal money transmitting business.  But we are obligated to consider, 

and we have, his entire course of conduct to determine moral turpitude in the facts and 

circumstances surrounding the conviction.  (In the Matter of Miller (Review Dept. 2008) 5 Cal. 

State Bar Ct. Rptr. 110, 115 [“wide ambit of facts surrounding the commission of a crime is 

appropriate to consider in a conviction referral proceeding”].)  It is the misconduct, not the 

conviction, that warrants discipline.  (In re Gross, supra, 33 Cal.3d at p. 566.)   

Schwarcz contends that he has profoundly changed his life over the past several years and 

is mindful of the issues that led him to make poor choices.  We must consider, however, that his 

criminal misconduct involved dishonesty and moral turpitude.  In the practice of law, honesty is 
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absolutely fundamental.  Without it, “the profession is worse than valueless in the place it holds in 

the administration of justice.”  (Tatlow v. State Bar (1936) 5 Cal.2d 520, 524; see Kim v. 

Westmoore Partners, Inc. (2011) 201 Cal.App.4th 267, 292 [“It is critical to both the bench and 

the bar that we be able to rely on the honesty of counsel”].)  Further, it is concerning that 

Schwarcz engaged in the present criminal misconduct while his first discipline case was pending.  

This reveals a brazen willingness to commit serious criminal acts at a time when he was under 

scrutiny by the State Bar for other alleged misconduct.  Such behavior reinforces our view that 

Schwarcz may continue to commit misconduct in the future. 

Disbarments have been the rule rather than the exception in disciplinary matters for serious 

crimes where the facts and circumstances involve moral turpitude.  (In re Crooks (1990) 51 Cal.3d 

1090, 1101.)  Schwarcz’s case is no exception.  Here, disbarment is in line with the applicable 

discipline standard and comparable case law.  A lesser discipline would not adequately protect the 

public and the courts, and surely would not uphold confidence in the legal profession.  (In the 

Matter of Burns (Review Dept. 1995) 3 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 406, 416 [discipline system is 

responsible for preserving integrity of legal profession as well as protection of public].)  

VI.  RECOMMENDATION 

For the foregoing reasons, we recommend that David Richard Schwarcz be disbarred 

from the practice of law and that his name be stricken from the roll of attorneys admitted to 

practice law in California.   

We further recommend that he comply with rule 9.20 of the California Rules of Court 

and perform the acts specified in subdivisions (a) and (c) of that rule, within 30 and 40 days, 

respectively, after the effective date of the Supreme Court order in this matter.   

We further recommend that costs be awarded to the State Bar in accordance with 

section 6086.10, such costs being enforceable as provided in section 6140.7 and as a money 
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judgment.  Unless the time for payment of discipline costs is extended pursuant to 

subdivision (c) of section 6086.10, costs assessed against a member who is actually suspended or 

disbarred must be paid as a condition of reinstatement or return to active status. 

VII.  MONETARY SANCTIONS 

The court does not recommend the imposition of monetary sanctions as all the misconduct 

in this matter occurred prior to April 1, 2020, the effective date of rule 5.137 of the Rules of 

Procedure of the State Bar, which implements Business and Professions Code section 6086.13.  

(See In the Matter of Wu (Review Dept. 2001) 4 Cal. State Bar Ct. Rptr. 263, 267 [rules of 

statutory construction apply when interpreting Rules Proc. of State Bar]; Evangelatos v. Superior 

Court (1988) 44 Cal.3d 1188, 1208–1209 [absent express retroactivity provision in statute or clear 

extrinsic sources of intended retroactive application, statute should not be retroactively applied]; 

Myers v. Philip Morris Companies, Inc. (2002) 28 Cal.4th 828, 841 [where retroactive application 

of statute is ambiguous, statute should be construed to apply prospectively]; Fox v. Alexis (1985) 

38 Cal.3d 621, 630–631 [date of offense controls issue of retroactivity].) 

VIII.  ORDER 

The order that David Richard Schwarcz be involuntarily enrolled as an inactive attorney 

of the State Bar pursuant to section 6007, subdivision (c)(4), effective December 5, 2019, will  

remain in effect pending consideration and decision of the Supreme Court on this 

recommendation. 

     PURCELL, P. J. 

WE CONCUR: 

McGILL, J. 

HONN, J. 
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